IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-46-01964
Appellant Case No. 2020-000027

RECEIVED

Sep 08 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Winston Shell.....Respondent,

vs.

Nathaniel Shell.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

T. Jeff Goodwyn, Jr.
Goodwyn Law Firm, LLC
2519 Devine Street
Suite A
Columbia, S.C. 29205
jgoodwyn@goodwynlaw.com
(803) 251-4517
(803) 251-4527 fax
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err as a matter of law in moving forward with the bench trial when an essential witness, the Appellant himself, was not present for the trial after the court informed the parties that the assigned judge could not hear the case the date the case was called.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Winston Shell, Respondent, commenced this action with the filing of a Summons and Complaint on July 7, 2017, alleging a single cause of action for breach of contract to collect money claimed to be owed to him by his brother, Nathaniel Shell. Nathaniel Shell, Appellant, timely filed an Answer and Counterclaim on December 18, 2017 denying Respondent's allegations and filed an Amended Answer removing the Counterclaim on January 4, 2018. The Circuit Court denied Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment in an order dated July 11, 2019. Thereafter, a bench trial was scheduled in the case for the trial week beginning Monday, December 9, 2019. The case was called Tuesday, December 10, 2019 and was completed that same day. The Court issued a Form 4 Order December 10, 2019 at 3:09 p.m. ruling in Respondent's favor in the amount of "\$211,2887.12". The Court issued an order correcting this typographical error on December 10, 2020 at 3:29 p.m. with the only difference being the amount of the judgment being changed to read "\$211,287.12".

Subsequent to service of this Order, Appellant served and filed his Motion for a New Trial pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCF on January 3, 2020. Appellant also filed a Notice of Appeal from the December 10, 2019 trial order on January 8, 2020. A hearing on Appellant's Motion for New Trial was scheduled and held before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall on February 3, 2019. Following this hearing, the Court entered a Form 4 Order denying Appellant's Motion for New Trial on February 6, 2020. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal of the denial of his Motion for New Trial February 6, 2020. Seeing that two appeals had been filed on the same case, the Court of Appeals consolidated these appeals into one appeal with the above caption in its letter to the parties dated February 10, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves an action by Respondent to collect money he claimed to have loaned Appellant, his brother, over the years. The case hinged on the disputed characterization of money that Respondent had given Appellant over the years and the true nature of a purported mortgage Respondent had on a property owned by Appellant. Appellant had also raised disputes relating to how much money had Appellant repaid Respondent over the years.

Appellant was represented by Neil T. Phillips, Esquire for the trial and the case was set on the trial roster of the week beginning Monday, December 9, 2019 in York County. Judges William A. McKinnon and Daniel D. Hall were the two trial judges for this trial term in York County.

Both Counsel for Appellant and Respondent received an email from the Lynn Straight at the York County Clerk of Court's office on December 4, 2019 indicating that Judge McKinnon had a date certain jury trial beginning Monday, December 9, 2019, would have to stop Tuesday at 2:00 so Judge McKinnon could attend to a prior commitment, and then continue Wednesday morning. (email dated December 4, 2019; R. p.184). The email also indicated that Mr. Phillips had a jury trial before judge Hall set to begin the Wednesday of this trial week, December 11, 2019. *Id.* The email from Ms. Straight specifically asked Beverly Carroll and Neil Phillips to attend the roster meeting to discuss the issues surrounding the Wednesday jury trial and the "Shell v. Shell non-trial [sic] scheduled before Judge McKinnon." *Id.*

Appellant and his witness, Willie Shell, who lived in Pennsylvania, appeared at Mr. Phillips' office the Monday morning of the trial week for the trial. (12/9/19 email, R. p. 187; affidavit of N. Shell, R. pp. 176-177). Mr. Phillips appeared at the roster meeting on December 9, 2019 at 9:30 a.m. before Judge Hall and was told that this case would be subject to being called in front of Judge McKinnon. (Trial Tr. p. 5, ll. 17-20; R. p. 82). Mr. Phillips was also told by Judge

Hall that Judge Hall himself had a jury trial set to be trial Monday. (Trial Tr. p. 5, ll. 17-20; R. p. 82). The court obtained the parties' attorney's cell phone numbers to let them know about any changes (Trial Tr. p. 5, l. 24 – p. 6, l. 3; R. pp. 82-83).

Mr. Phillips sent the clerk, Lynn Straight, copying Beverly Carroll, an email at 2:10 p.m. Monday, December 9, 2019 letting her know that he had out of state witnesses that needed to return home and asking if there was any chance at the case would be heard on Tuesday by Judge McKinnon. (12/9/19 email; R. p. 60). Ms. Carroll replied to the email at 2:14 p.m. reminding Mr. Phillips that the court had informed them that Judge McKinnon was in a trial and also had a personal commitment Tuesday afternoon. (12/9/19 email; R. p. 59). Mr. Phillips responded at 2:20 p.m. indicating that he had forgotten about the conflict Judge McKinnon had and would have to regroup with his client. (12/9/19 email; R. p. 58). Knowing that the assigned judge, Judge McKinnon, was in a jury trial and had a personal conflict through at least Tuesday and that Mr. Phillips himself was scheduled to start a jury trial before Judge Hall on Wednesday that would take precedence over this bench trial, Mr. Phillips told his client and the witness who travelled from Pennsylvania that the case would not be called this trial week. (Trial Tr. p. 6, ll. 18-21, R. p. 83; Affidavit of N. Shell; R. p. 176-177). Based on this information, Appellant then made alternate plans for Tuesday and the rest of the week, and his out of state witness returned home Monday evening. (Affidavit of N. Shell; R. p. 176-177).

After telling his client and his out of state witness that the trial would not be called this trial week, Mr. Phillips began preparing for the jury trial he had scheduled before Judge Hall that Wednesday. (Trial Tr. p. 6, l. 22 – p. 7, l. 3; R. pp. 83-84). At 2:30 p.m. on Monday, December 9, 2019, Lynn Straight sent Mr. Phillips and Ms. Carroll an email that Judge Hall was calling this case for trial before himself for Tuesday Morning. (12/9/19 2:30 p.m. email; R. p. 58). Judge

Hall's jury trial set for Monday ended up resolving and he was now available to hear this case and was willing to hear it despite the parties being told that Judge McKinnon was assigned the case. (Trial Tr., p. 5, ll. 20-23; R. p. 82). This email from Ms. Straight was the only communication Ms. Straight made to Mr. Phillips informing him the case was being called for trial Tuesday morning. There is no evidence that Ms. Straight called Mr. Phillips on the cell phone number the court had received from him at the roster meeting for this purpose.

Because he was dedicating all of his attention to preparing for Wednesday's jury trial, Mr. Phillips did not receive the email from Lynn Straight on Monday afternoon informing him that Judge Hall wanted to hear this case on Tuesday morning until early Tuesday morning. (Trial Tr. p. 6, ll. 4-6; R. p. 83). Mr. Phillips was not able to get in touch with Appellant to inform him of the last minute schedule change on Tuesday morning when he received Ms. Straight's email. (Trial Tr. p. 5, ll. 9-12; R. p. 82). Despite Appellant's counsel's complaints about needing additional time to contact his client and not being able to present his case without him, the court proceeded with the trial without the presence and testimony of Appellant and his out of state witness. (Trial Tr. p. 5, l. 9 – p. 7, l. 14; R. p. 82).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 40(i) SCRPC and the case law interpreting continuances being denied due to the absence of a necessary witness determine the standard of review for the issue on appeal in this case. Rule 40(i)(1) states that the court *may* grant a continuance for good and sufficient cause shown. In reviewing a decision to refuse to grant a continuance, the abuse of discretion standard applies. The appellate courts must consider whether to interfere with the exercise of discretion by the trial judge in the matter of continuances. *Ilderton v. Charleston C. R. & L. Co.*, 113 S.C. 91, 101 S.E. 282 at 283 (S.C. 1919).

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court abused its discretion in hearing this trial the Tuesday of the trial week with Appellant not having a single witness available to present its case when the court was aware that Appellant was present and ready the Monday of the trial term, was told the judge assigned to the case was not available Tuesday because of a jury trial and a personal conflict, and when Appellant's attorney did not receive notice the trial was beginning on Tuesday until that same morning.

The trial judge abused his discretion in deciding to move forward with the trial without the presence of a key witness and a party in the case leaving Appellant without any witnesses to present its side of the case. SCRCF Rule 40(i)(2), states in relevant part, "No motion for continuance shall be granted on account of the absence of a witness without the oath of the party, his counsel or agent, to the following effect, to wit: That the testimony of the witness is material to the support of the action or defense of the party moving; that the motion is not intended for delay; but is made solely because the party cannot go safely to trial without such testimony; that there has been due diligence to procure the testimony of the witness or of such other circumstances as will satisfy the court that the motion is in not intended for delay."

"But we have often said that, in exercising discretion, courts must be guided by law, and that discretion may not be exercised so as to deprive a litigant of a substantial right, except for good and sufficient reasons." *Ilderton v. Charleston C. R. & L. Co.*, 113 S.C. 91, 101 S.E. 282 at 283 (S.C. 1919). "*A party ought not to be compelled to go to trial in the absence of the only witness by whose testimony he can make out his action or defense*, unless it appears that he has been guilty of negligence in procuring the attendance of such witness, or in obtaining his testimony." *Id.* at 283 (emphasis added).

The trial judge, Judge Hall, was also the judge that was present for the roster meeting the day before the trial began and was well aware of what the parties had been told regarding the scheduling of the case. Specifically, the parties had been told that the case was assigned to Judge

McKinnon in the December 4, 2019 email from the clerk of court and that this bench trial would be subject to being called in front of Judge McKinnon. (12/4/19 email, R. p. 184; Trial Tr. p. 5, ll. 17-20; R. 82). The parties were also told that Judge Hall was beginning a trial that would last until at least Tuesday and that Judge McKinnon had a personal conflict that would make him unavailable after 2:00 on Tuesday. (email dated December 4, 2019; R. 184).

When Appellant's counsel appeared Tuesday morning for the trial, he told the judge that his client was not present and that he had not been able to get in touch with him that morning to let him that the case had been called. (Trial Tr. p. 6, ll. 16-21; R. p. 83). Judge Hall did inquire of Appellant's counsel as to what he told his client about when the trial would begin. Mr. Phillips told the court that Appellant and his out of state witness were at his office Monday morning ready for trial and after the roster meeting, he told them that he conveyed the information he received from the court and "that we're gonna have to see when this case can actually be heard; there are a lot of moving pieces." (Trial Tr. p. 6, ll. 16-21; R. p. 83). Mr. Phillips also informed the court that he did not receive the notice that the case was being called for Tuesday until Tuesday morning. (Trial Tr. p. 6, ll. 4-6; R. p. 83). Mr. Phillips also indicated that while he was unable to reach Appellant that morning, he had not had any difficulty getting in touch with his client throughout the attorney-client relationship. (Trial Tr. p. 7, ll. 10-12; R. p. 84).

When asked by the court if he was ready to proceed with the trial, Mr. Phillips indicated that he didn't have his client present with the obvious implication that he would not be able to present his defenses in the case without him. (Trial Tr. p. 6, ll. 10-12; R. p. 83). Mr. Phillips also represented to the court that he needed Appellant present to introduce testimony and evidence in the case and could not do so without him present. (Trial Tr. p. 9, ll. 15-18; R. p. 86). Mr. Phillips also showed the court that Appellant was present and ready Monday morning for trial and that he

had diligently tried to contact Appellant that morning to no avail. (Trial Tr. p. 6, ll. 10-12; R. p. 83). Appellant's attorney also demonstrated that needing additional time was not meant for the purpose of delay by showing that Appellant and his out of state witness were present and ready for trial the day before. It cannot credibly be argued that Appellant had purposefully failed to appear on Tuesday in an effort to delay the trial when he was present and ready Monday morning for the trial.

With Appellant's counsel having substantially complied with SCRCP Rule 40(i), the trial judge was in a position where he had to decide whether or not to move forward with the trial without Appellant or his out of state witness present. At this point, the trial judge knew Appellant's attorney was told that the assigned judge was unavailable Tuesday for multiple reasons, that Appellant's attorney told Appellant and his out of state witness that the case would not be tried that week, that Appellant was present with his witness ready for trial Monday morning, that Appellant's attorney found out the case was being called on Tuesday only that same morning, that Appellant had been responsive to his attorney's attempts to contact him in the past, and that moving forward would leave Appellant with no witnesses to present evidence and testimony relating to his side of a contested debt collections action between brothers. Also, there was no indication that Appellant was guilty of being negligent in failing to be present or have his witness present. In fact, the court told Appellant's attorney it was very unlikely the case would be called that week due to multiple conflicts with the assigned judge. The court actually told the parties that the case was assigned to Judge McKinnon and never indicated that the case would be called to be heard by Judge Hall.

While Appellant doesn't accuse the court of being intentionally deceptive, the way the court presented the scheduling situation telling the parties that the assigned judge could not hear

the case on Tuesday, then calling the case on Tuesday, would make any reasonable attorney feel he had been misled by the court, even if unwittingly so. In addition, any reasonable attorney hearing what the court told the parties about scheduling would have felt safe in telling his client the case would not be tried that Tuesday and likely for the rest of the week.

Given the fact that Appellant was present Monday morning ready to try the case and the fact that Appellant's attorney didn't find out about being called for trial until what appears to be a matter of minutes before the start of the trial, the fair and prudent thing to have done would have been to give Appellant's counsel at least the day Tuesday to track Appellant down before forcing the trial to begin. If Appellant's attorney could not reach Appellant within enough time to fit the trial in Tuesday, continuing the trial until the next term would have only been fair and prudent since moving forward with the trial would deprive Appellant of a substantial right – the right to be able to present testimony to defend against allegations made against you. As the court in *Ilderton* held, “A party ought not to be compelled to go to trial in the absence of the only witness by whose testimony he can make out his action or defense.” *Id.* This is exactly what the trial judge in this case did. While being present and ready the Monday of the trial week with his out of state witness, due to information received from the court and his attorney that the assigned judge was not available Tuesday, Appellant ended up being deprived of his right to present testimony in the case since he only had his attorney present for the trial to try to present his side of this contested debt dispute.

For the above reasons and in light of all of the above-described circumstances, this court should find that the trial judge abused his discretion in moving forward with the case without the presence of Appellant and subsequent denial of Appellant's Motion for New Trial, and this court should reverse the trial judge on this issue and remand the case for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Appellant was present and ready for trial with his out of state witness the Monday of the trial week when the court told the parties that the assigned judge had a conflicting jury trial and a personal conflict on Tuesday. The other sitting judge that term, Judge Hall, also had a jury trial scheduled. No indication was given that the case would be called by Judge Hall. As a result, Appellant's attorney told Appellant the case would not be heard Tuesday and he made other plans and could not receive his attorney's emails and calls to inform him the case was called on Tuesday morning. Judge Hall called the case anyway after his jury trial settled late Monday. Not receiving the email from the clerk that the case would be called Tuesday until Tuesday morning, Appellant's attorney was not able to get in touch with Appellant on such short notice and after telling him the case would not be called Tuesday. As held by the Supreme Court in *Ilderton*, "A party ought not to be compelled to go to trial in the absence of the only witness by whose testimony he can make out his action or defense." *Id.* Knowing all of this and that Appellant would be severely prejudiced by having no witnesses to present his side of the case, the trial judge abused his discretion in deciding to move forward with the trial without Appellant present. As a result, this court should reverse the trial judge's decision to move forward with the case and subsequent denial of Appellant's Motion for New Trial and remand the case for a new trial.