THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Case No.: 2017-CP-46-01964
Appellate Case No. 2020-000027

RECEIVED

Sep 08 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- I. **The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in proceeding with the trial of this case after the parties were notified that the case would be tried during the term and no motion for continuance was made.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The trial of this case was scheduled after the parties had engaged in substantial discovery, including written discovery that produced numerous documents and the depositions of the two parties.

This case was scheduled for trial for the “week of December 9th,” by the Honorable Dan D. Hall (“Judge Hall”), Administrative Judge for the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit on September 26, 2019. **R. p. 46.** On October 9, 2019, Lynn Strait (“Strait”), the Court Coordinator for the Court of Common Pleas in York County Clerk of Court’s Office sent an email saying that this case “appears for trial on the Monday, December 9, 2019 York County CP Jury Roster before Judge Hall.” **R. p. 47.** In that email, counsel in this case were directed to appear in Court at 9:00 am on Monday, December 9, 2019, for the roster meeting. On November 25, 2019, Strait sent an email with an attached roster, to all counsel who had cases “for the December 9th trial terms before Judge Dan Hall and Judge William McKinnon.” **R. pp. 48-52.** Neil Phillips (“Phillips”), Appellant’s then attorney, is listed in the email addresses. This case was listed as the fifth case on the roster. On December 4, 2019, Strait sent out another email; that email had a direct message to Phillips and Respondent’s counsel, to attend the roster meeting to discuss this matter as well as another case Phillips had on the rosters. **R. pp. 53-54.** Both attorneys met with Judge Hall on Monday; December 9, 2019. **R. p. 82 ll. 12-16.** Judge Hall made clear that the case would be tried that week and the only issue was when the trial would begin. The Judge told the attorneys they would be informed when the case would be called to trial. At 2:10 p.m. on Monday, Phillips sent an email to inquire about the possibility of Judge McKinnon trying the case “tomorrow,” which was Tuesday, December 10, 2019. **R. pp 55-57.** After being reminded by Respondent’s counsel in a responsive email that Judge McKinnon was involved in another trial, Phillips said he would

“regroup with my client.” 20 minutes later, Strait emailed both counsel stating that trial would proceed on December 10, 2020 at 9:30 a.m. **R. Pp 58-60.** In addition, consistent with the Judge’s direction, the Judge’s law clerk called counsel by telephone at approximately 2:52 p.m. to notify them the case would start at 9:30 a.m. the next day, Tuesday, December 10, 2019. Phillips previously acknowledged that the law clerk would be the one contacting him and Respondent’s counsel. **R. p. 56.**

On Tuesday, December 10, 2019, the case was called to trial. At the opening of the case, Judge Hall said

[T]his case is set for a bench trial this week and the court did meet with the attorneys yesterday which was Monday to discuss our docket and the order in which cases would be called this week.

The Court indicated to the lawyers, Mr. Phillips and Ms. Carroll, that is this bench trial would be subject to being called at that time probably in front of Judge McKinnon. However, the jury trial that was scheduled in front of Judge Hall yesterday in front of this court resolved and so we have moved the case to be heard today in front of me.

Yesterday the Court was able to or got information from both the attorneys via their cell phones how to get in touch with them and let them know about the change. And also let them know yesterday that this case would be called this morning.

Mr. Phillips did indicate this morning that he did not read his emails or check his messages until this morning; he is here, however his client is not here. With that the Court is ready to proceed.

R. p. 82 l. 13 to p. 83 l. 7. When asked if he was ready, Phillips responded “Yes, your Honor, without my client.” **R. P. 83 l.12** At no time was there was a motion for a continuance by Phillips. After the direct and cross examination of Plaintiff, the Court asked Phillips if he had witnesses to call to which he replied “I have no witnesses to call.” Judge Hall then announced that he was not going to rule on the case at that time, but would take a lunch break and that if Appellant showed up, Phillips could “make a decision about whether to call him or not.” **R. p. 153 ll. 18-23.** When

the Court reconvened after lunch, the Judge asked Phillips if he was going to call a witness to which Phillips replied “No, your Honor. My client is not going to appear today.” **R. p. 154 ll. 21-23.** The Court announced the verdict, which was affirmed by a Form 4, Judgment in a Civil Case.

Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial with a supporting Affidavit from Appellant on January 3, 2020. In turn, Respondent filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for New Trial with seven exhibits that were referenced therein. The motion was heard by Judge Hall on February 5, 2020; at the hearing, Appellant submitted a Brief in Reply to Defendant’s Motion for New Trial. The Court denied Appellant’s Motion as evidenced by Form 4, Judgment in a Civil Case, which was filed on February 6, 2020. This Court consolidated Appellant’s several Notices of Appeal into this matter.

ARGUMENT

Appellant has failed to set forth all of the facts surrounding the scheduling of this case for trial and has made several misleading statements about what is clearly shown in the transcripts from the trial and the hearing held on Appellant’s Motion for New Trial. In fact, Appellant has premised this appeal on a claimed abuse of discretion by the trial judge dealing with a motion for continuance under Rule 40(i), SCRCP, when such motion was never made.

In his Initial Brief, Appellant makes mention of one notice regarding the trial, when there were actually four different notices before the December 9, 2019 term of Court. In the last notice of December 4, 2019, Strait made several points: (1) the term of Court was for the week, (2) that the term involved both judges, Judge McKinnon and Judge Hall, and (3) that while both judges had a case set, the attorneys in this case were expected to discuss when the case was being tried that week. **R. p. 53**

In his Initial Brief, sets out statements that Phillips allegedly made and references the trial transcript. **Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 7.** . However, Phillips' comments were not as alleged. Instead, Phillips told the Court

[Y]esterday morning my client was prepared for trial and he had a witness that had traveled many miles to be here. I went back to my office after the meeting that we had in your chambers and I informed him that we're gonna have to see when this case can actually be heard; there are a lot of moving pieces.

Your Honor, after that I got involved in preparation for another case and I have spoken to my client since yesterday.

R. p. 83 l. 18-21, p. 7 ll. 1-3

The only evidence that Appellant submitted in support of his motion and this appeal is his Affidavit, which was attached to his Motion for New Trial. **R. pp. 176-177.** That Affidavit is also clearly in conflict with Phillips' statement. In his Affidavit, Appellant claims that he was told by his attorney, based on an alleged conversation between Phillips and the clerk that "it would be highly unlikely for the case to be called that week." There is absolutely no evidence that the Court, the Clerk, or anyone, said this to his attorney or that Phillips said that to the Court. In addition, the Appellant did nothing to verify this assertion. He did not seek an affidavit from his former attorney or seek any avenue to determine if the Clerk had ever made such a statement. Instead, Appellant continues to make excuses and now claims some unjust treatment.

He also states that Strait failed to call Phillips on his cell phone, suggesting the Court was at fault. **Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 8.** Such a claim rings hollow; first it was clear the Judge's law clerk called to notify counsel when the trial would start, but more importantly, Phillips acknowledge he never bothered to listen to his voicemail. To characterize the scheduling of the trial "last minute" (**Initial Brief of Appellant, p.5**) clearly ignores all the steps taken by the Clerk and the Court to schedule for trial that week. Finally, Appellant again mischaracterizes the transcript from the day

of the trial, claiming that “despite [Phillips’] complaints about needing additional time to contact his client and not being able to present his case without him” (**Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 5**). However, the transcript shows, that never happened, and Appellant’s counsel vigorously participated in the defense of the case through cross-examination and closing arguments to the Court. See **R. p. 83 ll. 18-21, p. 84 ll. 1-3**

Regarding his availability, Appellant says “I made plans for Tuesday and was not available to appear in trial when the case was called on Tuesday.” Appellant has never explained his whereabouts. It is not good enough for a party to claim that he “made plans for Tuesday.” **R. pp. 176-177** As counsel for Respondent pointed out at the hearing on Appellant’s Motion for New Trial, Appellant lives in Rock Hill and talked with his attorney about appearing in Court on the day of the trial. **R. p. 170 ll. 6-10** Respondent asserts it is not acceptable for a party to decide that he is “not available” when the facts show the Court made quite clear that case would be tried the week of December 9, 2019. Defendant’s Affidavit does not assert that he was unaware of trial on December 10, 2019, only that he made “other plans on that day.” It is to be noted that Appellant’s attorney, in fact, sought to have the case tried on December 10, 2019 in his email on December 9th. **R. p. 55-57** Nothing should have prevented Appellant to be ready to try the case the week of December 9, 20219. Particularly telling is that when Phillips was asked if Appellant was present in the Courtroom after lunch on December 10, 2019, the day of the trial, Phillips did not say that he could not reach his client, but instead said, “My client is not going to appear today.” **R. p. 154 ll. 21-23** Certainly, it is reasonable to conclude that Appellant was informed of the ongoing case and chose not to attend.

Perhaps the most flagrant incorrect assertion made in Appellant’s Initial Brief is the claim that the trial judge “abused his discretion” in denying a motion for continuance and referencing Rule

40(i)(2), SCRCRCP At no time during the trial was a motion for continuance made on any ground. Even if such a motion had been made, there must be “good and sufficient cause” shown Rule 40(i)(1), SCRCRCP. As to a witness, “the testimony of the witness is material to the support of the action or defense” and “there has been due diligence to procure the testimony of the witness.” Rule 40(i)(2), SCRCRCP. As previously discussed, nothing was presented to satisfy the standard even if the motion has been made, which was not the case.

Appellant cites a 1919 case to support his claim, but it is apparent that Ilderton v. Charleston Consol. Ry. & Lighting Co., 113 S.C. 91, 101 S.E. 282 (1919) differs dramatically from the case at hand. Ilderton centered on plaintiff’s claim for damages due to injuries caused by defendant’s trolley, which was operated by Robert O’Quinn (“O’Quinn”) who was serving in the United States Army in France at the time of the trial obviously during World War I. In that case, defendant’s attorney attempted to depose O’Quinn before he left the United States for France, but three days before the scheduled deposition, O’Quinn’s “regiment was ordered to leave and did leave.” 101 S.E. at 283. Affidavits were presented from two persons setting out what O’Quinn would say, and plaintiff’s counsel acknowledged that O’Quinn would have so testified. Id. However, the Court ordered the case to trial and a verdict was rendered against defendant. The South Carolina Supreme Court noted that defense counsel attempted to take the deposition of O’Quinn, but he was unexpectedly shipped out. The Court also noted that the case was subject to the protection of the Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Relief Act which was specifically adopted to deal with facts like the one before the Court. There is absolutely nothing similar between the case before this Court and Ilderton.

Even if the face of facts that show that Appellant himself caused the issue about which he now claims prejudice, the Court should dismiss the motion because clients are bound by the actions

of their attorneys. It is well settled in South Carolina that “[i]n the attorney-client relationship, clients are generally bound by their attorneys’ acts or omissions during the course of the legal representation” Koutsogiannis v. BB & T, 365 S.C. 145, 149, 616 S.E.2d 425, 428 (2005). Throughout, Appellant claims that his then attorney told him the case was not going to be tried that week, or even in 2019. There is absolutely no doubt that Phillips had more than adequate notice of the case being tried during the December 9th term of court based on notices from the judge and the clerk’s office. The trial judge met with both counsel, outlining that he would schedule the case that week and that the attorneys would be notified. That is exactly what happened, that is, the judges law clerk called, and the court clerk emailed that the trial would be tried on Tuesday. Phillips acknowledges he did not check either his email or his voicemail. Appellant is thus bound by the actions, or in this case the non-action, of his attorney.

Two cases from Georgia offer some additional guidance. The Georgia Supreme Court determined that a party’s motion to set aside a final order because his attorney had failed to notify him of the trial was not a “meritorious reason for granting the motion to set aside a judgment.” Arkwright v. Arkwright, 284 Ga. 545, 546, 668 S.E.2d 709, 710 (2008). In Drain Tile Mach., Inc. v. McCannon, 80 Ga. App. 373, 56 S.E.2d 165 (1949), plaintiff brought suit to collect an alleged indebtedness. However, when the case was called to trial, neither plaintiff nor his attorney appeared. While the facts of that case reveal that that plaintiff might have had a viable basis for a continuance, namely that plaintiff was on reserve duty, neither plaintiff or his attorney notified the Court beforehand of such even though it was known. Plaintiff’s counsel did not show up to the trial. The Court determined that the explanations offered by plaintiff and his attorney “simply show that the plaintiff and his counsel were lacking in due diligence” 56 S.E.2d at 168. Even if Appellant